1994

# John Kocher v. Scott Carver, Warden, and Utah State Board of Pardons: Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

### **QUESTION PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

The issue requiring review is when disciplinary decisions are sufficiently "final" to trigger the automatic rescission provision of the Utah Board of Pardons' parole order.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The applicable standard of review is well-settled:

On appeal from denial of habeas corpus relief, "we survey the record in the light most favorable to the findings and judgment; and we will not reverse if there is a reasonable basis therein to support the trial court's refusal to be convinced that the writ should be granted."

Webb v. Van Der Veur, 853 P.2d 898 (Utah App. 1993) (citing cases).

### **DISTRICT COURT'S ORDER OF DISMISSAL**

On February 8, 1994, Judge Anne M. Stirba, District Court Judge of the Third Judicial District Court for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, issued an order granting the Respondent/Appellee's Motion to Dismiss, denying the relief sought by the Petitioner and dismissing Petitioner/Appellant John Kocher's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus based on the following findings and conclusions:

1. For the reasons stated in Respondent's Motion to Dismiss, Petitioner's petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus is improperly asserted as a Rule 65B(b) or (c) action.

2. Petitioner's claims are properly characterized as Rule 65B(e) claims.

3. There is no record before the Court which demonstrates that the Respondent's failed to follow the statutes, rules or regulations governing their actions, exceeded their authority or abused their discretion.

### **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this appeal from the denial of a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus pursuant to §78-2a-2(g), Utah Code Ann. 1953, as amended. See e.g. Padilla v. Utah Board of Pardons, 820 P.2d 473 (Utah 1991).

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### **Nature of the Case**

This is an appeal from a denial of the Petitioner/Appellant's [hereinafter "Appellant's"] petition for habeas corpus alleging that the Utah Board of Pardons improperly rescinded his August 24, 1993 parole date based on representations made by prison officials that he had been found guilty of violating a rule or regulation of the Utah State Prison. Although the prison Institutional Disciplinary Officer [hereinafter "IDHO"] found Appellant guilty of disobeying a direct order by refusing to provide a timely and adequate urine sample, that decision was never sufficiently "final" to trigger the automatic rescission provision of the Utah Board of Pardon's parole order where: (1) the officer's denial of the alternative procedure of dry cell and catheterization violated Appellants right against unreasonable searches and seizures; (2) that denial also prevented the reporting officer from providing sufficient evidence to support the disciplinary decision; and (3) official inaction, following the ALJ's remand of the case to the IDHO with instructions for the IDHO to obtain additional information about Appellant's requests for the dry cell/catheterization alternative and whether there was medical documentation indicating that Petitioner needed that alternative,

prevented the IDHO's decision from being "final" enough to trigger the automatic rescission provision of the Board's parole order.

#### Course of the Case and Disposition Below

On September 23, 1993, Appellant filed a Petition for Habeas Corpus and Post Conviction Relief, alleging that was not able to provide enough urine to test, the officer refused his request for a dry cell or catheter despite his kidney problems. He was found guilty without enough evidence. Even though the disciplinary case was on appeal before Judge Robinson, the Board of Pardons revoked Appellant's parole date and established a new parole date almost four months later. He alleged those actions violated due process.

Despite the foregoing scenario, Judge Anne Stirba determined "there is no record before the Court which demonstrates that the Respondent's failed to follow the statutes, rules or regulations governing their actions, exceeded their authority or abused their discretion Respondents," granted Respondent's Motion to Dismiss, and dismissed Petitioner's petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus.

#### Statement of Facts

- a. Petitioner John Kocher was convicted of Theft, a third-degree felony under § 76-6-4122(1)(c) U.C.A. (1989).
- b. On May 20, 1992, the Utah Board of Pardons ordered John Kocher a parole date of August 24, 1992 conditioned on the following provision:

It is further ordered that if and in the event that the above named applicant shall be guilty of any infractions of the rules and regulations of the Utah State Prison or shall fail or refuse to perform duties as assigned by the Utah State Prison or is found guilty of any other law of the State of Utah prior to the effective date of said parole, then this Order of Parole is revoked and becomes null and void.

- c. Before April 7, 1993, Utah State Prison inmate John Kocher # 19261 was transferred to the Wasatch Facility and was required to undergo reception and orientation, including review of a Document entitled "Department of Corrections, Utah State Prison, Wasatch Facility, Inmate Orientation Handbook" (hereinafter "handbook").
- d. Pages 33-34 of that handbook contains the following relevant procedure:

URINE COLLECTION AND TESTING

1. Staff may request a urine sample at any time. Failure of the inmate to produce one will result in disciplinary action.
  2. It shall be the inmate's responsibility to provide a sample within **ONE** (1) hour from the time of the request.
  3. If the inmate refuses or is unable to produce the requested sample within the given time frame, a disciplinary report shall be issued to the inmate for failure to comply with a direct order.
  4. When an inmate alleges a psychological condition (shy bladder/bashful kidneys) which would preclude giving a sample while being observed, the inmate shall be strip searched, showered and dressed in clothing provided by a staff member. The inmate shall be given at least 16 ounces of water to drink prior to being placed in a secure (dry) holding area. The inmate shall be given **ONE** (1) hour within which to produce the required sample. If the sample is not provided within the one (1) hour time frame, the inmate shall be offered the option of medical catheterization. For further information refer to Policy and Procedure FEr2/01.00.
- e. As a practical matter, the foregoing procedure presumes that any inmate who fails or refuses to provide a timely urine sample, must be doing so in order to prevent the prison personnel from determining that the inmate's urine sample contains prohibited drugs or alcohol. Any inmate refusing to timely comply with the request to provide is issued a disciplinary violation report for disobeying a direct order and is subject to punishment as though drugs or alcohol had been found in his urine sample. A limited exception is provided for those who claim that they can't provide the sample. The exception requires the officer to use a secure (dry) cell or catheterization to obtain the requested urine sample.

- f. On April 7, 1993, a prison officer ordered inmate John Kocher to provide a urine sample within an hour. Kocher was only able to produce a small amount of urine. The officer threw that sample away, stating that, "it was not enough!" Kocher told the officer he was unable to provide the requested urine sample due to kidney problems which were documented in his medical files. The prison officer rejected inmate Kocher's request to be put in the secure (dry) cell and denied Kocher's request that he be taken to the infirmary for catheterization.
- g. In the subsequent disciplinary violation hearing held on April 23, 1993, inmate Kocher argued that he was denied the opportunity to be placed in a dry cell or to be taken to the prison infirmary to be catheterized. Although he showed IDHO Hobbs the explicit language of the relevant prison policy and claimed he had requested a secure (dry) cell or catheterization, Institution Disciplinary Hearing Officer (IDHO) Hobbs found Kocher "guilty" of disobeying a direct order and sentenced Kocher to 15 days punitive isolation.
- h. On April 23, 1993, Kocher appealed the IDHO's decision to the Department of Corrections' Administrative Law Judge Spencer Robinson. On June 3, 1993, ALJ Robinson remanded the case back to IDHO C. Hobbs with instructions for the IDHO to obtain information about whether Kocher had asked to be placed in a dry cell or to be catheterized.
- i. Thereafter, neither IDHO Hobbs nor ALJ made any further contact with inmate John Kocher about the outcome of his disciplinary appeal.
- j. By letter dated June 16, 1993, Enid Pino, Hearing Officer for the Utah Board of Pardons, notified John Kocher that he would be provided a recision hearing on June 30, 1993 at 10:00 a.m. to discuss a Recision Request from prison authorities indicating that Kocher had disciplinaries.
- k. On July 13, 1993, the Utah Board of Pardons affirmed the June 30, 1993 interim decision, rescinded inmate Kocher's August 8, 1993 parole date, and ordered a new parole date of December 14, 1993.
- l. On September 23, 1993, John Kocher filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus alleging *inter alia*, and somewhat unartfully, that he was not guilty of disobeying a direct order to provide the urine sample because he alleged that he had a kidney condition that prevented him from giving the urine sample while being observed that required the officer to place him in a dry cell or, that failing, to offer him the option of being medically catheterized in

lieu of the violation report. Kocher also, unartfully, alleged that the prison misrepresented that he had been found guilty of the disciplinary violation before that decision was "final" ("without the results of [A.L.J.] Robinson's decision. He also alleged that the Board of Pardons should not have used the misrepresentation by the Prison that he had been found "guilty" of a rule violation because that decision was not yet "final".

- m. On October 14, 1993, Judge Anne M. Stirba issued an order stating that she had determined that petitioner's request for relief was "not frivolous on its face" and requiring respondents to Answer the Petition.
- n. Instead of answering the petition, respondents' filed a Motion to Dismiss and memorandum on October 28, 1993.
- o. Following a hearing on Respondent's Motion to Dismiss, Judge Anne M. Stirba characterized petitioner's claims as Rule 65B(e) claims, stated that "[t]here is no record before the court that demonstrates that the Respondents failed to follow statutes, rules or regulations governing their actions, exceeded their authority or abused their discretion", granted Respondent's Motion to Dismiss for the reasons stated therein and dismissed the petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus.
- p. Judge Stirba signed the order dismissing the petition on February 8, 1994 and Petitioner filed a notice of appeal of that decision on March 2, 1994.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

By order dated May 20, 1992, the Utah Board of Pardons' gave Appellant a parole date of August 24, 1993 subject to the condition that he not be found guilty of violating any rule or regulation of the Utah State Prison. Although Appellant was subsequently found guilty of disobeying a direct order to provide an officer a timely and adequate urine sample, his subsequent appeal of that decision to the Department of Corrections Administrative Law Judge ["ALJ"] was remanded to the IDHO with instructions to obtain additional information regarding Appellant's request for a dry cell or for a

Appellant's alleged need for an alternative. Despite the remand order, Appellant never received a hearing or other determination of the validity of the disciplinary charge against him. Nevertheless, the Utah State Board of Pardons used representations made by prison staff that the Appellant had been found guilty of violating a Utah State Prison rule or regulation and the Board of Pardons rescinded the Appellant's parole date based on that misrepresentation.

The issue presented by this appeal is whether the decision of the Utah State Prison's IDHO was sufficiently "final" to support the Board of Pardon's decision to rescind Appellant's parole date where: (1) the reporting officer's refusal to provide the Appellant with the dry cell and catheterization alternative was unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment; (2) since provision of the alternative procedure was a condition precedent to the officer's right allege that Appellant disobeyed the officer's direct order, the officer's refusal to provide that procedure removed the presumption that the failure or refusal to provide a urine sample violated the officer's direct order to provide that sample and removing the very evidence that normally would be sufficient to support the IDHO's decision; and (3) the ALJ's remand of the case to the IDHO with instructions for the IDHO to obtain additional information regarding Appellant's requests and his need for the alternative procedure, and both the IDHO's and ALJ's subsequent inaction thereon, prevented the IDHO's decision that the Appellant was found guilt of violating from ever becoming sufficiently "final" to trigger the automatic rescission provision of the Utah Board of Pardon's conditional parole order.

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE PURPOSE AND SCOPE OF HABEAS CORPUS

Although the original purpose of the writ of habeas corpus was to test the lawfulness of the cause of a person's restraint, or the propriety of proceedings relating thereto, it is not to be doubted that the understanding of the nature of the writ has been expanded to test other alleged violations of basic rights. See Ziegler v. Miliken, 583 P.2d 1175 (Utah 1978).

The Utah Supreme Court has made it clear that habeas review of the actions of the Utah Board of Pardons is available under certain circumstances. Foote v. Board of Pardons, 808 P.2d 734, 735 (Utah 1991) ("It is the province of the judiciary to assure that a claim of the denial of due process by an arm of government be heard and, if justified, that it be vindicated").

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in order to state a ground for relief, it must appear from such a petition: (1) that there is a violation of a basic right; and (2) that the petitioner exhausted his administrative remedies, before seeking relief from the court. The reason for this requirement is that, consistent with its policy of judicial restraint, courts are reluctant to intrude into the operations or management of the internal affairs of a prison and will only do so in an unusual exigency where it appears that there is some oppression or injustice that is occurring that it would be unconscionable not to examine the alleged grievance. Id. at 1176.

In this case, Appellant has alleged that, having alleged that he had kidney problems that were preventing him from giving the



requested urine sample, he was entitled to the secure (dry) cell process and the opportunity to submit to catheterization by medical staff before he could be charged with disobeying a direct order. Appellant also alleges that the prison hearing officer's decision that he was guilty of disobeying a direct order was contrary to the evidence and violated the mandatory language of the secure or dry cell process and catheterization option. Finally, the Appellant alleges the officer's decision that he was guilty of disobeying a direct order when he refused to provide the urine sample was not sufficiently "final" to allow the Board of Pardons and Parole to trigger imposition of the automatic recision provision of the Board's parole order.

As to the requirement that he exhaust administrative remedies, see Smith v. Turner, 362 P.2d 581 (1961), the Appellant appealed the Institutional Disciplinary Hearing Officer determination that he was "guilty" of disobeying the officer's direct order to provide a urine sample where Appellant told the officer that he suffered from kidney problems that would prevent him from providing a urine sample while being observed by the officer and the officer refused to afford him the mandatory secure (dry) cell process and medical catheterization option before issuing him a disciplinary violation report for refusing a direct order.

The ALJ remanded the case to the IDHO with instructions that he obtain additional information regarding Appellant's request to use a secure (dry) cell and, if necessary, medical catheterization to ensure his ability to give an adequate urine sample. Appellant

is unaware of any fact or indication that the IDHO or ALJ ever took any further action on the charges against him nor provided him any further hearing or remedy. Appellant further alleges that since due process protections must be provided at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner, the Institutional Disciplinary Hearing Officer and the Departmental Administrative Law Judge have lost the ability to deal with this matter further. See e.g. Palmer v. City of Monticello, 31 F.3d 1499, 1508 (10th Cir. 1994) (hearing provided some 21 months after police officer's termination was "not granted at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner").

Therefore, this case presents a factual pattern where there is a likelihood of such oppression and injustice to the extent that it would be unconscionable not to examine the alleged grievance. See Ziegler v. Miliken, 583 P.2d 1175, 1176 (Utah 1978).

## II. THIS APPEAL SHOULD NOT BE DISMISSED AS MOOT

Although the Appellant has been released on parole, his appeal should not be dismissed for mootness.

Mootness allows the court to refrain from adjudicating a case on the merits if the requested judicial relief cannot affect the rights of the litigants. Duran v. Morris, 635 P.2d 43 (Utah 1981).

However, one of the recognized exceptions to the principle of mootness allows the Court to hear the case when the case presents sufficiently compelling circumstances. In Wickham v. Fisher, 629 P.2d 896 (Utah 1981), the Utah Supreme Court held that:

The principles that determine the justiciability of the instant case are well-established rules which permit a court to litigate an issue which, although technically

moot as to the particular litigant at the time of the appeal, is of wide concern, affects the public interest, is likely to recur in a similar manner, and because of the brief time any one person is affected, would otherwise likely escape judicial review.

In this case, the petitioner/appellant complains of official refusal to apply a mandatory procedure available to prisoners as a defense against the procedural presumption that failure or refusal to provide timely and adequate urine samples justifies disciplinary convictions for disobeying a direct order and punishment as though the inmates were guilty of actually using drugs.

### III. FOURTH AMENDMENT IMPLICATIONS

When an prisoner is subject to punishment for disobeying an officer's order for failing or refusing to provide a urine sample, his Fourth Amendment rights are implicated. Lucero v. Gunter, 17 F.3d 1347, 1349 (10th Cir. 1994). But, the fact that those rights are implicated does not mean that random urinalysis collection and testing violates the Fourth Amendment. Id. at 1349-1350.

The unauthorized use of narcotics is a problem that plagues virtually every penal and detention center in the country. *E.g.* Block v. Rutherford, 468 U.S. 576, 588-89, 104 S.Ct. 3227, 3234, 82 L.Ed.2d 438 (1984). Prison officials have a "significant and legitimate" interest in preventing unauthorized drug usage among prison inmates. Therefore, random urine collection and testing of prisoners is a reasonable means of combating unauthorized use of narcotics and does not violate the Fourth Amendment. Lucero v. Gunter, 17 F.3d 1347, 1350 (10th Cir. 1994).

Since urinalysis collection and testing constitutes a search and seizure for the purpose of the Fourth Amendment, Schmerber v. California, 384 U.S. 757, 767-68, 86 S.Ct. 1826, 1834, 16 L.Ed.2d 908 (1966), and Lucero v. Gunter, 17 F.3d 1347, 1349 (10th Cir. 1994), urinalysis collection and testing must be conducted in a reasonable manner. Id. at 771-72, 86 S.Ct. at 1836.

In Levoy v. Mills, 788 F.2d 1437, 1439 n. \*\* (10th Cir. 1986), the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals stated:

In [Bell v.] Wolfish, [441 U.S. 520, 99 S.Ct. 1861, 60 L.Ed. 2d 447 (1979)] the Supreme Court assumed that prison inmates retain some measure of Fourth Amendment rights. Id. We do not believe that the Supreme Court's decision in Hudson v. Palmer, 468 U.S. 517, 104 S.Ct. 3194, 82 L.Ed.2d 393 (1984), in which the Court held that a prisoner has no reasonable expectation of privacy in his prison cell, eviscerates the requirement set forth in Wolfish that personal body searches must be reasonable under the circumstances.

This means that the officer's order must be based upon random selection and cannot be imposed as a mechanism to harass prisoners. Lucero v. Gunter, 17 F.3d 1347, 1350 (10th Cir. 1994).

Another factor that affects the "reasonableness" of a urine collection and testing procedure permitting punishment of inmates for refusing to submit to the urinalysis is the concern that the inmate has actually refused to provide the urine sample. While prison disciplinary proceedings only require "some evidence" to support a disciplinary charge, see Superintendent, Massachusetts Correctional Institution, Walpole v. Hill, 472 U.S. 445, 105 S.Ct. 2768, 86 L.Ed.2d 356 (1985), procedures that help ensure recovery of the urine sample rather than to punish the inmate for failing or refusing to provide the sample make the rule more reasonable.

An example of this principle is found in the portion of the Utah State collection and testing procedure, which provides:

4. When an inmate alleges a psychological condition (shy bladder/bashful kidneys) which would preclude giving a sample while being observed, the inmate shall be strip searched, showered and dressed in clothing provided by a staff member. The inmate shall be given at least 16 ounces of water to drink prior to being placed in a secure (dry) holding area. The inmate shall be given **ONE** (1) hour within which to produce the required sample. If the sample is not provided within the one (1) hour time frame, the inmate shall be offered the option of medical catheterization. For further information refer to Policy and Procedure FEr2/01.00.

However, the limited exception to the rule, allowing inmates who legitimately are unable to provide a urine sample alternative ways to ensure that sample is provided, is part of what makes the prison's urinalysis collection and testing rule appear reasonable. Application of the four-part inquiry of Turner v. Safely, 482 U.S. 78, 89, 107 S.Ct. 2254, 2261-62, 96 L.Ed.2d 64 (1987) suggests the alternative provision is necessary to prevent the otherwise harsh consequences of that part of the rule that creates an irrebuttable presumption that any inmate who refuses **or fails** to provide a urine sample may be punished in a similar manner to an inmate whose urine sample tests positive for drugs. See Clifton v. Craig, 924 F.2d 182, 184 (10th Cir. 1991), *cert. denied*, 112 S.Ct. 97, 116 L.Ed.2d 68 (1991) (application of Turner four part inquiry).

A narrower interpretation of the provision may reimpose the overly harsh consequences of the irrebuttable presumption. The current rule requires the inmate to allege psychological condition that prevents him from providing the urine sample while he is being

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