1994

John Kocher v. Scott Carver, Warden, Utah State Board of Pardons : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondents do not disagree with petitioner's premise that petitions for extraordinary relief are available to seek review of certain actions of the Board of Pardons. They do, however, disagree with petitioner's understanding of the nature and scope of that review. As held by the court below and not contested here, the claims made by petitioner are properly characterized as claims that the Board of Pardons, an administrative agency, wrongfully used its judicial authority by exceeding its jurisdiction, abusing its discretion, or failing to act in accordance with applicable law pursuant to Rule 65B(e) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

Under subsection (e)(4), the district court's role can extend no further than assuring that the Board, in its actions, regularly pursued its authority. The fact that petitioner disagrees with the outcome of his rescission hearing is insufficient to show legal error on the Board's part.

Petitioner's reliance on the alleged mishandling of his prison disciplinary action is misplaced. By his own admission, he explained his concerns to the Board. By providing petitioner the opportunity to rebut claimed errors in the disciplinary proceedings, the Board provided him appropriate due process. Having entertained his explanation, the Board was entitled to weigh it against other considerations in determining that rescission was nonetheless warranted.

The court found that petitioner did not establish facts showing either an abuse of the Board's discretion or a failure by respondents to follow statutes, rules, or regulations governing their actions. Petitioner has not marshalled the evidence in favor of the court's findings as precedent requires. Moreover, petitioner's failure to provide a transcript of the district court hearing, as required by rule when findings or conclusions are challenged, precludes a showing that the findings lack a sufficient evidentiary basis. In light of these deficiencies, the findings must be accepted as valid, and review is limited to a determination of whether the court's legal conclusions are consistent with those findings. Since the facts as found by the court show no instances of violative conduct by respondents, the court's conclusion that

respondents regularly pursued their authority is inescapable.

Petitioner has not shown that the Board of Pardons violated his due process rights in any way. Because the Board regularly pursued its authority in rescinding his parole date, he is not entitled to relief, and the district court's dismissal of his petition must be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY CONSIDERED THE
PETITION UNDER RULE 65B(e) OF THE UTAH RULES
OF CIVIL PROCEDURE.

Petitioner acknowledges and does not contest the propriety of the district court's ruling that petitioner's claims are appropriately actionable under subsection (e) of Rule 65B of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. See Brief of Appellant at 6, ¶ 10. Nonetheless, his arguments on appeal do not address whether respondents regularly pursued their authority in rescinding his parole date. Instead, petitioner argues that the substance of the Board's decision is wrong because of underlying flaws in a prison disciplinary action considered by the Board in its decisionmaking process. In effect, petitioner seeks this Court's review of the merits of the Board's determination, a result precluded not only by statute but by binding precedent.

As worded at the time of the district court's order of dismissal, Utah Code Ann. § 77-27-5(3) (Supp. 1993) stated that "[d]ecisions of the Board of Pardons in cases involving paroles,

pardons, commutations or terminations of sentence, restitution, or remission of fines or forfeitures are final and are not subject to judicial review."¹ As petitioner correctly points out, Footte v. Utah Board of Pardons, 808 P.2d 734 (Utah 1991), established that despite this provision, review of Board actions is available in certain circumstances. However, as settled by binding authority, the scope of that review is limited to an examination of procedural due process pursuant to Rule 65B(e).

In Lancaster v. Utah Board of Pardons, 869 P.2d 945 (Utah 1994), the supreme court established both the rationale for the application of subsection (e) and the parameters of a subsection (e) review. Lancaster sought relief against the Board for, among other things, failing to fix a definite release date. The petition alleged jurisdiction under both subsections (c) and (e) of Rule 65B. The supreme court affirmed the trial court's dismissal of the petition as frivolous. The court rejected consideration of Lancaster's claims under subsection (c), holding that,

[a]s explained in Labrum, we must review the fairness of the process by which the Board undertakes its sentencing function, but we do not sit as a panel of review on the result, absent some other constitutional claim, such as cruel and unusual punishment. Accordingly, Lancaster's claim under Rule 65B(c) was properly dismissed as frivolous on its face.

Lancaster, 869 P.2d at 947 (citation omitted) (emphasis in original). Scrutinizing the claims under Rule 65B(e), the court

¹Effective May 2, 1994, the provision was amended to add the words "and Parole" after "Board of Pardons", but the substance of the provision remained unchanged.

determined that the dismissal was warranted by Lancaster's failure to allege "facts showing that the Board failed to act as required by law, exceeded its jurisdiction, abused its discretion, or refused him a right to which he was entitled." Id. at 948.

The application of subsection (e) to claims against the Board was most recently upheld in Preece v. House, 252 Utah Adv. Rep. 10 (Utah November 23, 1994). Preece challenged his Board-established parole date on several grounds, including the Board's alleged consideration of a prison disciplinary report that was supposed to have been expunged from his file. The supreme court found Preece's petition appropriate under subsection (e), see Preece, 252 Utah Adv. Rep. at 12, and relied on Lancaster to reject review of the Board's substantive decision. See id.

As in Preece and Lancaster, petitioner is entitled to a review of the procedure by which the Board reached its decision regarding his parole date. Likewise, as in these controlling precedents, he is entitled to no more. Statute and case law mandate affirmance of the court's application of Rule 65B(e) to petitioner's case.

POINT II

THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT PETITIONER FAILED TO ADDUCE FACTS SHOWING THAT RESPONDENTS ACTED IN VIOLATION OF LAW, EXCEEDED THEIR JURISDICTION, ABUSED THEIR DISCRETION, OR DENIED A RIGHT TO WHICH PETITIONER WAS ENTITLED.

To succeed in his Rule 65B(e) claim, petitioner can obtain relief only on the following grounds:

(A) where an inferior court, administrative agency, or officer exercising judicial functions has exceeded its jurisdiction or

abused its discretion; (B) where an inferior court, administrative agency, corporation or person has failed to perform an act required by law as a duty of office, trust or station; or (C) where an inferior court, administrative agency, corporation or person has refused the petitioner the use or enjoyment of a right or office to which petitioner is entitled.

Utah R. Civ. P. 65B(e)(2). As the court below properly found and the record sustains, petitioner did not adduce evidence demonstrating that respondents committed any such violation.

Petitioner argues extensively in his brief that the Board's rescission action is defective because the record before the Board included an allegedly flawed prison disciplinary proceeding. Petitioner's attack is misguided. Any error committed by prison authorities in the disciplinary proceeding is simply irrelevant to the issue of whether the Board violated petitioner's rights and goes to the merits of the Board's parole determination, a function "certainly well within the Board's discretion." Lancaster, 869 P.2d at 947. Indeed, as the supreme court noted in Preece, 252 Utah Adv. Rep. at 12, "so long as the period of incarceration decided upon by the board of pardons falls within an inmate's applicable indeterminate range, e.g., five years to life, then that decision, absent unusual circumstances, cannot be arbitrary and capricious." Petitioner has shown no unusual circumstances here.

Even assuming, solely for the purpose of argument, that the prison's disciplinary action were flawed as petitioner contends, petitioner has shown no impropriety by respondents that would entitle him to relief against them. Petitioner has made no claim that the Board used constitutionally defective procedures in its

decisionmaking process. He has not alleged that the Board provided inadequate notice of his rescission hearing. He has not claimed that the Board, in contemplating the rescission request, failed to advise him of the evidence that could be considered, prevented him from raising or responding to relevant issues, or denied any request for additional information. He has not asserted that the Board declined to provide an adequate written rationale for its rescission of his parole date. His sole claim against respondents is a challenge to the substance of the decision rescinding his parole date, not to the procedure by which that decision was reached. Although he complains that prison officials not made parties to this suit violated his rights in disciplining him for an infraction of prison rules, he does not claim that the respondents he has brought under the Court's jurisdiction bear any responsibility for those alleged violations.

Petitioner mischaracterizes the Board's rescission of his parole date as resulting from an "automatic rescision provision." See Brief of Appellant at 1. In contrast, the record reveals a course of deliberation that was anything but automatic. After receiving a rescission request based on multiple disciplinaries, the Board scheduled and advised petitioner of a hearing "to discuss this matter." Addendum B, R. 45. Following petitioner's explanation to the Board, an interim decision rescinding petitioner's parole date was entered on June 30, 1993 (Addendum C at R. 29), and a written rationale was provided (id. at R. 30). The interim decision was reviewed and affirmed by the Board on July

13, 1993 (Addendum D at R. 26), and a new order of parole was entered (id. at R. 27). Far from the automatic process that petitioner suggests, the Board's action represents an individual determination in which petitioner was afforded a full opportunity to air his concerns in accordance with due process.

The record before the Board included much more than a single prison disciplinary proceeding. As enumerated in the June 16, 1993 letter advising petitioner of his rescission hearing, petitioner's complete Board file was open for the Board's consideration, including

(1) Public information, including judgment and commitment orders, prior Board dispositions, parole agreements, and the like;

(2) Information generated from Adult Probation and Parole, including presentence and postsentence reports, probation violation reports, parole progress and violation reports, diagnostic reports, and so forth;

(3) Prison information, including board reports, disciplinaries, progress and rescission reports, psychologicals, etc.;

(4) Information generated internally for the Board, including worksheets, routings, guideline matrices, alienist reports, warrant requests;

(5) Other criminal justice information, including police and prosecutorial reports, recommendations from sentencing judges, criminal record data, other court documents;

(6) Other correspondence sent to the Board concerning you.

Any other specific items of information to be considered by the Board will be identified for you at the hearing and you will have an opportunity to respond at that time.

Addendum B, R. 45 (emphasis supplied).

Because petitioner attacks the court's finding that

respondents engaged in no conduct violative of his rights, he is obligated to marshal the evidence in support of the court's finding. The Supreme Court of Utah has outlined an appellant's burden:

An appellate court does not lightly disturb the verdict of a jury nor the findings of fact made by a trial court. If a challenge is made to the findings, an appellant must marshal all evidence in favor of the facts as found by the trial court and then demonstrate that even viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the court below, the evidence is insufficient to support the finding of fact. If the appellant fails to marshal the evidence, the appellate court assumes that the record supports the findings of the trial court and proceeds to a review of the accuracy of the lower court's conclusions of law and the application of that law to the case.

Saunders v. Sharp, 806 P.2d 198, 199 (Utah 1991). As this Court has elaborated, "[s]uccessful challenges to findings of fact thus must demonstrate to appellate courts first how the trial court found the facts from the evidence and second why such findings contradict the weight of the evidence." Oneida/SLIC v. Oneida Cold Storage and Warehouse, 872 P.2d 1051, 1053 (Utah App. 1994). Petitioner here has taken neither step.

Petitioner does not claim that he was unable to raise his concerns about the disciplinary action against him to the Board. By petitioner's own admission, he explained to the Board the errors he perceived in the disciplinary action on which his petition focuses. See R. 48. However, the Board's written rationale for its decision shows that on balance, the Board considered the aggravating circumstances of denial and minimization of

responsibility, petitioner's incarceration and revocation history (see R. 32), his programming record, and his prison disciplinary problems to favor delay of his parole by less than four months. See Addendum C at R. 30. On appeal, petitioner leaves wholly unaddressed this record evidence of respondents' appropriate exercise of discretion. He shows neither how the court used the evidence before it to find respondents in compliance with their legal duty, nor why the weight of the evidence requires a different result. Petitioner's failure to meet his burden of marshalling mandates affirmance of the court's findings: respondents did not fail to follow governing statutes, rules, or regulations, did not exceed their authority, and did not abuse their discretion. See Addendum A at R. 58, ¶ 3.